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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY 
 

 
CITY OF HOLLYWOOD POLICE 
OFFICERS’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM, 
individually and on behalf of all other 
similarly situated shareholders of 
EXXON MOBIL CORPORATION, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 v. 
 
DARREN W. WOODS, MICHAEL J. 
ANGELAKIS, ANGELA F. BRALY, 
MARIA S. DREYFUS, JOHN D. 
HARRIS II, KAISA H. HIETALA, 
JOSEPH L. HOOLEY, STEVEN A. 
KANDARIAN, ALEXANDER A. 
KARSNER, LAWRENCE W. 
KELLNER, DINA POWELL 
MCCORMICK, JEFFREY W. UBBEN, 
and EXXON MOBIL CORPORATION    
 
 Defendants. 
 

Civil Action No.  __________ 
 
 
 
 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 
Plaintiff City of Hollywood Police Officers’ Retirement System, 

individually and on behalf of all other similarly situated shareholders, brings this 

action against the members (the “Director Defendants”) of the Board of Directors 
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(the “Board”) of Exxon Mobil Corporation (“Exxon” or the Company”) 

(collectively with the Director Defendants, “Defendants”) for breaching their 

fiduciary duties in connection with the adoption of a Retail Voting Program 

(“RVP”) that violates federal law, unlawfully impairs the voting rights of Exxon’s 

public shareholders, and constitutes an unlawful entrenchment device meant to 

perpetuate Defendants’ control over the Company. Plaintiff also seeks an 

injunction against Exxon directly to prevent the Company from proceeding with 

this unlawful solicitation.   

Plaintiff’s allegations are based upon its knowledge as to itself and as to all 

other matters upon information and belief, including the investigation conducted 

by its undersigned attorneys, a review of public information, news reports, and 

documents filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). 

INTRODUCTION 

1. On September 15, 2025, Exxon announced that it would commence a 

new program that would ask the Company’s retail investor shareholders to join a 

new “Retail Voting Program” (the “RVP”) under which shareholders’ shares 

would be voted automatically in alignment with the Board’s recommendations. 

The Board’s adoption of the RVP is just the latest move in the Company’s efforts 

to quash voices of shareholders who have not uniformly supported the Board’s 

decisions.  By attempting to weaponize a largely disengaged body of retail 
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shareholders, however, the RVP affirmatively violates federal law, and constitutes 

both an unlawful entrenchment device and a breach of fiduciary duty under New 

Jersey law.     

2. Under the RVP, retail investors (and only retail investors) are asked to 

give the Company the ability to vote their shares in perpetuity in favor of 

management’s recommendations either (a) on all matters, or (b) on all matters 

except director elections or any acquisition, merger or divestiture transaction that, 

under applicable state law or stock exchange rules, requires approval of the 

Company’s shareholders.  Supposedly, shareholders who “opt-in” to the program 

may “opt-out” at any time.   

3. On September 17, 2025, Exxon filed a proxy solicitation on Schedule 

14A specifically designated as “Soliciting Material under § 240.14a-12” (the 

“Solicitation”). The Solicitation “invit[ed] [retail shareholders] to opt in to a new 

Retail Voting Program to vote your ExxonMobil shares in line with our Board’s 

recommendations” and provided a website link or a QR code that would open a 

website to allow a shareholder to opt-in to the program.   

4. As set forth below, the Solicitation violates nearly every substantive 

requirement for proxy solicitations set forth in 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.14a-3 to 240.14a-

15 (see infra ¶¶ 33 - 48).  
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5. By authorizing the RVP in violation of federal law, the Director 

Defendants have unlawfully impaired the voting rights not only of Exxon’s 

shareholders who opt-in to the program based on inadequate disclosures, but also 

of Exxon’s shareholders who either are not eligible or choose not to opt-in, but 

whose votes would be diluted through the votes of illegally solicited proxies.  By 

unlawfully impairing the voting franchise of Exxon’s public shareholders, the 

Director Defendants breached their fiduciary duties. 

6. The RVP also is designed and intended to quash shareholder dissent 

and to perpetuate the Director Defendants’ control over the Company. For years, 

Exxon has gone to great lengths to oppose shareholder initiatives that advocate 

change to corporate policies and practices adopted by the Board. Despite the 

Board’s efforts to throttle shareholder activism, shareholders nonetheless prevailed 

in a landmark contested proxy contest that saw three new directors elected to the 

Board, and between 2015 and 2023, shareholder proposals concerning corporate 

governance and environmental issues routinely earned substantial, and in many 

instances majority, support from voting shareholders. 

7. The RVP is intended to stifle shareholder dissent and to perpetuate 

Board control free of what the Director Defendants perceive as a threat to their job 

security from troublesome investors. As such, it is an illegal entrenching device the 

adoption of which violates the Director Defendants’ fiduciary duty of loyalty.   
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8. Plaintiff City of Hollywood Police Officers’ Retirement System, on 

behalf of itself and other similarly situated shareholders, brings this Complaint 

seeking declaratory and injunctive relief against: (i) the Defendants’ deliberate 

effort to unlawfully impair the voting rights of Exxon’s public shareholders, and 

(ii) Defendants’ requiring the dismantling of the RVP and preventing Defendants 

from unlawfully soliciting any proxies through that program.   

9. A prompt adjudication of this matter is essential to protect and restore 

the shareholder franchise. 

JURISDICTION 

10. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 

§ 78aa, 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

VENUE 

11. Venue is proper in the District of New Jersey pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1391 in that the Defendant is a New Jersey corporation.    

PARTIES 

12. Plaintiff City of Hollywood Police Officers’ Retirement System is an 

Exxon shareholder, and has been an Exxon shareholder at all material times 

alleged in this Complaint.   

13. Defendant Darren W. Woods is the Company’s CEO and Executive 

Chair.  He has been a director since 2016. 
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14. Defendant Michael J. Angelakis is a director of the Company and has 

been a director since 2021. 

15. Defendant Angela F. Braly is a director of the Company and has been 

a director since 2016. 

16. Defendant Maria S. Dreyfus is a director of the Company and has 

been a director since 2024. 

17. Defendant John D. Harris II is a director of the Company and has been 

a director since 2023. 

18. Defendant Kaisa H. Hietala is a director of the Company and has been 

a director since 2021. 

19. Defendant Joseph L. Hooley is a director of the Company and has 

been a director since 2020. 

20. Defendant Steven A. Kandarian is a director of the Company and has 

been a director since 2018. 

21. Defendant Alexander A. Karsner is a director of the Company and has 

been a director since 2021. 

22. Defendant Lawrence W. Kellner is a director of the Company and has 

been a director since 2023. 

23. Defendant Dina Powell McCormick is a director of the Company and 

has been a director since 2024. 
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24. Defendant Jeffrey W. Ubben is a director of the Company and has 

been a director since 2021. 

25. Defendant Exxon is a New Jersey corporation with its registered agent 

at 830 Bear Tavern Road, West Trenton, New Jersey 08628-1020.   

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

A. EXXON’S BOARD HAS LONG FOUGHT AGAINST SHAREHOLDER 
INITIATIVES ADVOCATING FOR CHANGES IN CORPORATE POLICIES AND 
PRACTICES 
 
26. Exxon is a global oil, gas, and petrochemical company that has been 

in operation for over 140 years.  The Company operates its facilities or markets its 

products all over the world and conducts oil and gas exploration on six continents. 

27. Exxon shareholders have expressed sustained interest in engaging 

with the Company to address environmental and climate change issues that are 

relevant to Exxon’s operations.  Between 2015 and 2020, fourteen shareholder 

proposals were included in the Company’s proxy filings addressing various 

environmental and climate change issues, including the Company’s response to 

climate change and expansion of Exxon’s portfolio in renewable resources.  

Indeed, in 2017, a shareholder proposal requesting a report on the impact of 

technological advances and global climate change policies on the Company’s 

portfolio and financial results received 62.1% shareholder support. 
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28. Shareholders’ various campaigns relating to environmental issues 

eventually culminated in the 2021 proxy contest in which activist investor Engine 

No. 1 sought four board seats in order to address concerns with Exxon’s 

environmental impacts.  Exxon opposed the 2021 proxy contest at considerable 

expense, but shareholders ultimately elected three new directors to Exxon’s board. 

29. The 2021 proxy contest stands as a testament to the success of 

shareholder engagement, as the Company and activist shareholders submitted over 

250 proxy solicitation communications between December 2020 and May 2021 to 

persuade voters to their cause.  

30. Having lost at the ballot box, Exxon’s Board turned to the courts to 

stifle shareholder engagement.  In 2024, Exxon sued shareholders Arjuna Capital 

and Follow This in order to keep their emission-reduction target proposal off the 

Company’s proxy, despite having defeated similar proposals in prior years.  Faced 

with the expense of litigation, these shareholders ultimately withdrew their 

proposals for the 2024 Exxon proxy despite having easily satisfied the minimum 

voting support requirements for re-introduction of the proposal under the proxy 

rules.  

B. EXXON ADOPTS THE RETAIL VOTING PROGRAM 

31. Now, in 2025, Exxon takes its fight against activist shareholders to a 

new level, purporting to create a first of its kind automatic voting program under 
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which Exxon will have the authority to automatically vote retail shareholders’ 

shares in alignment with the Board’s recommendations.  

32. On September 15, 2025, Exxon requested the SEC’s Division of 

Corporation Finance to issue a letter granting no-action relief for the Company’s 

proposed RVP.1  Exxon described the RVP as allowing for “a standing voting 

instruction whereby, on an ongoing basis, [the] votes [of shareholders who opt-in 

to the program] would be cast as recommended by the [Board].”2  Thus, the RVP 

is designed specifically to allow retail shareholders to grant their proxy to the 

Company on a perpetual basis to be voted in accordance with the Board’s 

recommendations. 

33. In submitting its request for no-action relief, the Company specifically 

did not seek the Staff’s opinion regarding whether the RVP constituted a 

“solicitation”, but conceded that the provisions of Rule 14a-2(a)(1) would apply: 

The Company is not seeking no-action relief in this letter regarding 
whether the Retail Voting Program involves the ‘solicitation’ of 
proxies, as defined in Rule 14a-1(l). …3 
   
34. Although the RVP represented an extraordinary departure from 

standard voting procedure, and had never been instituted or even publicly 

 
1 A copy of Exxon’s no-action request is attached as Exhibit A. 
2 Id. 
3 Exhibit A at 4, n. 4. 
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considered by any publicly traded corporation, in an extraordinary display of 

alacrity, the Staff granted Exxon’s request for no-action relief the very same day.4 

Based on the facts and represented presented in your letter the 
Division of Corporation Finance will not recommend enforcement 
action to the Commission under Exchange Action Rule 14a-4(d)(2) or 
Rule 14a-4(d)(3) if Exxon Mobil Corporation implements the Retail 
Voting Program as described in your incoming letter.5 
 
35. On September 17, 2025, Exxon filed with the SEC on Form DEFA 

14A copies of three letters through which retail shareholders would be asked to 

opt-in to the RVP: a “Beneficial Email,” a “Registered Email,” and a “Beneficial 

Letter.”6   

36. Each of the published forms of communications provided a means by 

which (in the Beneficial Email and the Registered Email, an electronic link; and in 

the Beneficial Letter, a scannable QR code) shareholders could access a website 

through which shareholders could opt-in to the RVP: 

 
4 The Staff’s lightning-fast response to Exxon’s request came just over two months 
after a federal court held that the SEC itself exceeded its authority by adopting a 
rule designed to impede the ability proxy advisory firms to communicate with their 
clients (which are typically institutional investors).  In Institutional Shareholder 
Services, Inc. v Securities and Exchange Commission, 142 F.4th 757 (D.C. Cir. 
2025), the Court held that a 2020 amendment to Rule 14a-1(l), specifically 
subsection (1)(iii), which extended the definition of “solicitation” to include advice 
from proxy advisory firms, is unconstitutional. 
5 A copy of the Staff’s no-action response is attached as Exhibit B. 
6 Exhibit C. 
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37.  Once on the website, under the RVP retail shareholders are asked to 

enter into a “voting consent agreement,” the terms of which state: 
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38. Thus, by enrolling in the RVP, retail shareholders are providing their 

consent and authorization for Exxon’s Board to vote the shareholder’s shares in 

alignment with the Board at all future shareholder meetings unless the shareholder 

affirmatively takes steps to cancel the voting instruction.  

C. THE RVP CONSTITUTES AN UNLAWFUL SOLICITATION 

39. The RVP enrollment notice and website clearly constitute 

solicitations.  SEC Rule 14a-1(l) defines “solicitation” as follows: 

(l) Solicitation  
(1) The terms ‘solicit’ and ‘solicitation’ include: 

(i) Any request for a proxy whether or not accompanied by or 
included in a form of proxy; 

(ii) Any request to execute or not execute, or to revoke, a 
proxy[.]7 

 
40. The solicitation materials filed by the Company were submitted as 

“Soliciting Material under § 240a-12,”8 effectively conceding that the 

contemplated RVP notice to retail shareholders constitute solicitations under the 

applicable proxy rules. 

 
7  17 C.F.R. § 240.14a-1(l).  
8  Exhibit C.  
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41. SEC Rule 14a-2 provides that, except as otherwise specified, the 

requirements set forth in Rules 14a-3 through 14a-15 “apply to every solicitation 

of a proxy with respect to securities registered pursuant to section 12 of the 

[Securities and Exchange] Act.”  Rules 14a-3 through 14a-15, in turn provide 

detailed disclosures and filing requirements that must be made in connection with 

any solicitation of proxies.  The RVP communications violate nearly every such 

requirement. 

42. Rule 14a-3 Information to be furnished to securities holders. 

a. Subsection (a) requires proxy solicitations to be accompanied 

by a preliminary or definitive proxy statement.  Subsection (b) requires any proxy 

solicitation in connection with an annual meeting in connection with the election of 

directors must be accompanied by or preceded by an annual financial report.  

Subsection (c) requires that the report required by the rule be filed with the SEC 

not later than the date it is first sent or given to shareholders. 

b. The RVP communications violate Rule 14a-3 because the 

Company did not provide any preliminary or definitive proxy materials disclosing 

any items to be considered, and necessarily could not, by definition, provide the 

required financial reports for any future meetings for which proxies are being 

solicited. 
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43. Rule 14a-4 Requirements as to proxy. 

a. Subsection (a) requires that a form of proxy shall indicate in 

bold-type whether the solicitation is being made on behalf of the Board or the 

identity on whose behalf the solicitation is made, a designated blank space for 

dating the proxy card, and “shall identify clearly and impartially each separate 

matter intended to be acted upon …”.  Subsection (b) requires shareholders 

solicited to be provided means to approve, disapprove or abstain with respect to 

each item to be considered and provides specific provisions with respect to the 

election of directors.  Subsection (d) provides that: 

“No proxy shall confer authority: 
 …  
(2) To vote at any annual meeting other than the next annual meeting 

(or any adjournment thereof) to be held after the date on which 
the proxy statement and form of proxy are first sent or given 
to security holders. 
 

(3) To vote with respect to more than one meeting (and any 
adjournment thereof) or more than one consent solicitation. 

 
(4) To consent to or authorize any action other than the action 

proposed to be taken in the proxy statement, or matters referred to 
in paragraph (c) of this section. 

 

b. The RVP violates Rule 14a-4 because the mailing (i) does not 

state in bold-type that the solicitation is being made by the Board, (ii) does not 

“identify clearly and impartially each separate matter to be acted upon”, because it 

seeks authority to cast votes in favor of whatever proposals may be submitted and 
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recommended by the Board at any future meeting, (iii) does not provide a means 

by which security holders can oppose or abstain from any item to be considered, 

and (iv) seeks authority to vote proxies in more than one meeting and is not limited 

to the annual meeting after the Solicitation was first given to security holders. 

c. The RVP also violates Rule 14a-4(d)’s strict time limitations on 

proxy validity, thereby eviscerating the Rule’s “fresh and informed consent” 

requirements. Shareholder solicitations must be specific and contemporaneous.  

Rule 14a-4(d) thus protects and enhances shareholder franchise by calling for 

shareholders to provide active and deliberate consent in response to current and 

robust disclosures.  The RVP subverts both the plain language and the purpose of 

this important Rule.  The RVP gives management a blank check; it grants 

perpetual and indefinite voting authority to management to vote shares however it 

chooses for meetings far beyond those following the solicitation and for far more 

than one meeting.  Because the RVP allows Exxon management to ensure that 

management-friendly votes are automatically cast at subsequent meetings, the RVP 

undermines the incentives for robust disclosure and protections against 

management entrenchment that are at the heart of Rule 14a-4’s time and scope 

limitations on proxy validity. That the authority granted to management under the 

RVP can be cancelled – just as it could be with any proxy – does not rehabilitate 

this plainly illegal program. The Rule puts the onus on management to secure 
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active and informed consent, not on shareholders to exercise their right to revoke 

their indefinite proxy.  The RVP thus turns the Rule on its head by substituting 

inertia for the system of informed and current shareholder participation enshrined 

by the Rule. 

44. Rule 14a-5 Presentation of information in proxy statement 

a. Subsection (a) requires, inter alia, that “[t]he information 

included in the proxy statement shall be clearly presented and the statements made 

shall be divided into groups according to subject matter and the various groups of 

statements shall be preceded by appropriate headings.  Subsection (b) provides that 

information required to be disclosed that necessarily must be determined in the 

future may be stated in terms of present knowledge and intention.  Subsection (b) 

further provides that, “[t]o the extent practicable, the authority conferred 

concerning each such matter shall be confined within limits reasonably related to 

the need for discretionary authority.  Subject to the foregoing, information which is 

not known to the persons on whose behalf the solicitation is to be made and which 

it is not reasonably within the power of such persons to ascertain or precure may be 

omitted, if a brief statement of the circumstances rendering such information 

unavailable is made.”  Subsection (e) requires that “[a]ll proxy statements shall 

disclose, under an appropriate caption, the following dates”: (1) the deadline for 

submitting shareholder proposals under Rule 14a-8; (2) the date after which notice 
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of a shareholder proposal submitted outside of the Rule 14a-8 process will be 

considered untimely, (3) the deadline for submitting nominees for inclusion in the 

registrant’s proxy statement and an appropriate form of proxy, and (4) the deadline 

for providing notice of a solicitation in support of director nominees other than 

those recommended by the registrant at the next annual meeting.   

b. The RVP violates Rule 14a-5 because (1) it does not provide 

any information regarding the matter to be voted upon at the next or any 

subsequent meeting for which the Solicitation seeks proxy voting power; (2) it 

does not provide any information regarding the substance of any proposals that 

may be the subject of the voting power requested by the Solicitation; and (3) it 

provides none of the dates required by subsection (e).   

45. Rule 14a-6 Filing requirements. 

a. Rule 14a-6 provides filing requirements for preliminary and 

definitive proxy statements.   

b. The RVP violates Rule 14a-6 because it purports to circumvent 

the requirement of concurrently publishing any proxy statement required by the 

SEC’s rules promulgated under Section 14A at all by soliciting proxy voting power 

in the absence of any of the disclosures required under these Rules 14a-3 through 

14a-15. 
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46. Rule 14a-9 False or misleading statements. 

a. Subsection (a) provides that “[n]o solicitation subject to this 

regulation shall be made by means of any proxy statement, form of proxy, notice 

of meeting or other communication, written or oral, containing any statement 

which, at the time and in the light of the circumstances under which it is made, is 

false or misleading with respect to any material fact, or which omits to state any 

material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein not false or 

misleading or necessary to correct any statement in any earlier communication 

with respect to the solicitation of a proxy for the same meeting or subject matter 

which has become false or misleading.” 

b. The RVP violates Rule 14a-9 because it does not provide any 

information whatsoever regarding the specific matters on which voting authority is 

being solicited. 

47. Rule 14a-10 Prohibition of certain solicitations. 

a. Rule 14a-10 provides that no person making a solicitation shall 

solicit “(a) Any undated or postdated proxy; or (b) Any proxy which provides that 

it shall be deemed to be dated as of a date subsequent to the date on which it is 

signed by the security holder.”   

b. The RVP violates Rule 14a-10 because it purports to seek 

authorization to vote proxies on some undisclosed dates in the future in connection 
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with meetings that have not been scheduled, and purports to grant authorization to 

vote proxies subsequent to the date on which it is signed by the security holder. 

48. Rule 14a-12 Solicitation before furnishing a proxy statement. 

a. Rule 14a-12(a) provides that a solicitation may be made before 

furnishing security holders with a proxy statement meeting the requirements of 

Rule 14a-3(a) if (1) each written communication includes (i) the identity of the 

participants in the solicitation and a description of their direct or indirect interests, 

or a prominent legend advising security holders where they can obtain that 

information; and (ii) a legend advising proxy holders to read the proxy statement 

when it is available because it contains important information. 

b. The RVP violates Rule 14a-12 because it does not prominently 

and clearly (1) identify the participants9 to the solicitation or a description of their 

direct or indirect interests (because, of course, it does not identify the subject 

matter with respect to which proxy voting authority is sought), or (2) instruct 

shareholders to review any definitive proxy statement or even provide dates on 

which such definitive proxy statements may be available. To the extent Exxon is 

relying on Rule 14a-12 in commencing the RVP, the RVP enrollment form violates 
 

9 “Participant” as it is used in Rule 14a-12 includes, among others, the Company’s 
directors and any director nominees.  How could anyone truthfully disclose today 
who the Company’s directors will be at arbitrary points in the future?  Plaintiff is 
left to wonder whether the Director Defendants understand the existence of the 
RVP to imply, for purposes of the identification requirement of Rule 14a-12, that 
they will remain Company directors in perpetuity.   
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the rule because it requests the shareholders’ consent or authorization, but fails to 

provide a definitive proxy statement concurrently with that request.  What’s more, 

nothing in the text of Rule 14a-12 states, suggests, or otherwise implies that it is 

intended to provide the Director Defendants the right to exercise a perpetual, 

plenary vote on behalf of thousands of retail shareholders; to conclude otherwise 

would transform Rule 14a-12 into a gaping hole that would swallow the entire 

proxy voting disclosure apparatus.   

D. THE DIRECTOR DEFENDANTS BREACHED THEIR FIDUCIARY DUTIES BY 
ESTABLISHING THE RETAIL VOTING PROGRAM TO ENTRENCH 
THEMSELVES AND PERPETUATE THEIR CONTROL OVER CORPORATE 
POLICIES AND PRACTICES 

49. In addition to violating the SEC’s proxy solicitation rules as set forth 

above, the Director Defendants breached their fiduciary duties by establishing the 

RVP in order to entrench and perpetuate their control over director elections as 

well as corporate policies and practices. 

50. In announcing the RVP, Exxon explained that the purpose of the 

program is to blunt the impact of votes legally cast by institutional investors 

because historically large numbers of retail investors have chosen not to vote their 

shares.  The Company purported to justify its attempt to undermine the impact of 

legally voted shares as an effort to preserve what the Board characterizes as 

“shareholder value.” But the Company’s purported justification reveals nothing 

more than a difference of opinion between the Defendants and certain shareholders 
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who, consistent with New Jersey and federal law, seek to have their voices heard.  

This right to be heard, and in particular the right to dissent from recommendations 

by the Board, is at the very heart of the shareholder franchise.   

51. The RVP, therefore, represents nothing but a blatant power grab 

through which the Director Defendants seek to weaponize retail shareholder apathy 

by sock-puppeting retail shareholders’ voting discretion without providing the 

required disclosures under federal law, in order to crush the voting impact of 

security holders who read the proxy statements, participate in shareholder 

democracy, and legally vote their shares.  Defendants’ desire to speak for retail 

shareholders in perpetuity instead of attempting to address retail shareholder 

apathy by stepping up good faith engagement speaks volumes.  The RVP is a stark 

attempt to solidify the Director Defendants’ control over the Company, squelch 

dissent, and eliminate the influence of what the Director Defendants perceive to be 

annoying minority shareholders. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

52. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of 

Civil Procedure 23(a), (b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(3) on behalf of a Class, consisting of 

all Exxon shareholders who held Exxon shares during the Class Period, excluding 

Defendants and the Court or any employees of the Court.  As used herein, the term 

“Class Period” means the time beginning not later than September 15, 2025 (or 
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such earlier date that disclosure or solicitation concerning the Exxon RVP was 

made) and continuing until Exxon takes appropriate corrective action and 

terminates the RVP. 

53. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all 

members is impracticable.  As of January 31, 2025, Exxon had 4,339,143,313 

shares of common stock outstanding.  Plaintiff believes that there are at least 

thousands of members in the proposed Class; as Exxon has admitted, nearly 40% 

of Exxon shares are held by retail investors.  Record owners and other members of 

the Class may be identified from records maintained by the Company or its transfer 

agent and may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using the form of 

notice similar to that customarily used in class actions. 

54. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class 

as all members of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants’ wrongful 

conduct in violation of federal law and in breach of their fiduciary duty that is 

complained of herein. 

55. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the 

members of the Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class 

and corporate governance litigation.  Plaintiff has no interests antagonistic to or in 

conflict with those of the Class. 
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56. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the 

Class and predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of 

the Class.  Among the questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 

a. Whether the Company’s DEFA 14A announcing the creation of 

the RVP was a solicitation within the meaning of the proxy 

rules; 

b. Whether the Company’s communications to shareholders 

seeking enrollment in the RVP are solicitations within the 

meaning of the proxy rules; 

c. Whether the Company’s DEFA 14A announcing the creation of 

the RVP and/or communications with shareholders seeking 

enrollment in the RVP violate the proxy rules; 

d. Whether the Defendants breached their fiduciary duties to 

Plaintiff and the other members of the Class by authorizing the 

filing of unlawful proxy solicitations; 

e. Whether the Defendants breached their fiduciary duties to 

Plaintiff and the other members of the Class by adopting, 

implementing and maintaining the RVP; 

f. Whether Plaintiff and the Class have been or will be harmed by 

the Defendants’ conduct; 

Case 3:25-cv-16633     Document 1     Filed 10/14/25     Page 23 of 30 PageID: 23



 24 

g. Whether Plaintiff and the other members of the Class are 

entitled to declaratory and injunctive relief as a result of 

breaches of fiduciary duties. 

57. There are no substantial individual questions among Class members 

on the merits of this action. 

58. Plaintiff has been injured by the alleged breaches of fiduciary duties 

and is committed to fairly, adequately and vigorously representing and protecting 

the interests of Class members. 

59. Neither Plaintiff, nor its counsel, have any interests that would cause 

them to refrain from vigorously pursuing this action. 

60. Class certification of Plaintiff’s claims is appropriate pursuant to Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1) because the prosecution of separate actions by individual Class 

members would create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications which would 

establish incompatible standards of conduct for Defendants, and/or because 

adjudications with respect to individual Class members would as a practical matter 

be dispositive of the interests of non-party Class members. 

61. Class certification of Plaintiff’s claims is also appropriate pursuant to 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2) because Defendants have acted or refused to act on 

grounds generally applicable to the Class, thereby making appropriate final 
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injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief with respect to the Class as a 

whole. 

62. In the alternative, class certification is also appropriate under Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 23(b)(3) because common issues of law and fact predominate over 

questions affecting only individual members of the Class and because a class 

action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. 

63. There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as a class 

action. 

COUNT I 
(Direct Claim for Breach of Fiduciary 

Duty against Director Defendants) 
 

64. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges all of the preceding allegations as if 

fully set forth herein. 

65. Exxon securities are registered pursuant to section 12 of the Securities 

Exchange Act.  

66. The invitation to enroll in the RVP requests that shareholders 

authorize the Board to vote their shares in accordance with the recommendation of 

the Board and thus constitutes a “request for a proxy” within the meaning of 

“solicitation” as defined by 17 CFR § 240.14a-1(l). 
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67. Per C.F.R. § 240.14a–2, every solicitation of a proxy by Exxon 

regarding those securities must comply with the requirements promulgated under 

17 CFR §§ 240.14a–3 through 240.14a–15.  

68. As set forth above (¶¶ 33 - 48) RVP solicitation materials violate 

federal law by failing to comply with numerous requirements set forth in 17 CFR 

§§ 240.14a–3 through 240.14a–12.  

69. By soliciting votes in violation of federal law, Defendants have and 

will continue to unlawfully impair the voting rights of both those shareholders who 

“opt-in” to the voting program based on inadequate disclosures, and those 

shareholders who “opt-out” of the voting program or who otherwise do not tender 

their proxy by diluting the voting power of properly voted shares with votes cast 

by the Board based on illegally solicited proxies. 

70. Plaintiff and the Class have no adequate remedy at law.    

COUNT II 
(Direct Claim for Breach of Fiduciary Duty  

against the Director Defendants) 

71. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation above as if set 

forth in full herein.  

72. As described above (¶¶ 49 - 51), Defendants adopted the RVP for the 

express purpose of quashing dissent and preventing the free exercise of the voting 

franchise. 
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73. Defendants adopted the RVP for the purposes of perpetuating their 

own reelection and perpetual control of the Board, and the Board’s control of the 

corporate policies and practices free of dissent from shareholders who would seek 

to remove directors from office or oppose the election of director candidates 

recommended by incumbent Board members, or who would seek the adoption of 

corporate policies or practices that run contrary to Board recommendations.   

74. The RVP was adopted with the purpose, and has the effect of, 

separating the shareholders from exercising their voting rights with full cognizance 

of the nature of the vote, in direct contravention with the letter and the spirit of the 

Securities Exchange Act.  

75. The RVP has the effect of unlawfully appropriating the votes of the 

retail shareholders and impairing the shareholder franchise.  

76. The RVP was adopted with the purpose, and has the effect of, 

inequitably entrenching the Director Defendants.  

77. The adoption of the RVP as well as its continued maintenance 

constitute breaches of each Director Defendant’s fiduciary duty of loyalty.  

78. The invitation to enroll in the RVP constitutes a breach of the 

fiduciary duty of loyalty in the form of an unlawful solicitation.  
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79. The continued maintenance of the RVP causes all shareholders not 

enrolled in the RVP imminent and irreparable harm as it inequitably chills and 

even precludes the fair exercise of the Exxon shareholder franchise. 

80. Plaintiff and the Class have no adequate remedy at law.    

COUNT III 
(Claim for Injunctive Relief against 

Defendant Exxon Mobil Corporation) 
 

81. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation above as if set 

forth in full herein. 

82. The RVP communication materials constitute a “solicitation” under 

the federal securities laws. 

83. As set forth above (¶¶ 33 - 48), the RVP communication materials do 

not comply with the disclosure requirements set forth in 17 CFR §§ 240.14a–3 

through 240.14a–12. 

84. The RVP was adopted by Defendants to perpetuate their reelection, 

and to unlawfully impair the voting franchise of Exxon’s public shareholders. 

85. Plaintiff and the Class have been and will continue to be injured by 

the RVP until and unless it is rescinded and cancelled. 

86. Plaintiff and the Class have no adequate remedy at law. 
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CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that the Court orders the following relief: 

A. Certifying the Class. 

B. Entering judgment in favor of the Class against Defendants; 

C. Declaring and decreeing that the RVP is unlawful under Rule 14a of 

Section 240 Title 17 of the Code of Federal Regulations; 

D. Declaring and decreeing that the invitation to enroll in the RVP 

constitutes an unlawful solicitation within the meaning of the Rule 14a of 

Title 17 of Section 240 of the Code of Federal Regulations; 

E. Declaring and decreeing that the Director Defendants have each breached 

their fiduciary duty of loyalty by impairing Plaintiff’s shareholder voting 

rights through the implementing the RVP; 

F. Declaring and decreeing that the Director Defendants have each breached 

their fiduciary duty of loyalty by causing the Company to commence an 

unlawful solicitation; 

G. Temporarily, preliminarily, and permanently enjoining the continued 

operation of the RVP; 

H. Awarding Plaintiff its attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

I. Granting such other relief as this Court deems just and appropriate.  
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury as to all issues so triable. 
 

 
SEEGER WEISS LLP 
 
 
By:  /s/ Christopher A. Seeger   

Christopher A. Seeger 
 
55 Challenger Road 
Ridgefield Park, NJ 07660 
(973) 639-9100 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff City of 
Hollywood Police Officers’ Retirement 
System 

 
Dated:  October 14, 2025 
  
Of Counsel 
 
Michael J. Barry (041551993) 
William G. Passannante II (pro hac vice forthcoming) 
Edward M. Lilly (pro hac vice forthcoming) 
GRANT & EISENHOFER 
123 Justison Street, Suite 700 
Wilmington, DE 19801 
(302) 622-7000 
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September 15, 2025 

Office of Mergers and Acquisitions 
Division of Corporation Finance 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
100 F Street, NE 
Washington, DC 20549 

Attn: Tiffany Posil, Chief of the Office of Mergers and Acquisitions 
David Plattner, Special Counsel, Office of Mergers and Acquisitions 

RE: No-Action Request regarding Rules 14a-4(d)(2) and 14a-4(d)(3) in connection with the 
Proposed Retail Voting Program 

Dear Ms. Posil and Mr. Plattner: 

In connection with the proposed retail shareholder voting program (the “Retail Voting 
Program”) described below and in other program-related materials provided to the Staff of the 
Division of Corporation Finance (the “Staff”) for their review, Exxon Mobil Corporation, a New 
Jersey corporation (the “Company” or “ExxonMobil”), seeks confirmation that the Staff will not 
recommend any enforcement action by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
“Commission”) against ExxonMobil with respect to the Retail Voting Program as it relates to 
compliance with Rules 14a-4(d)(2) and 14a-4(d)(3) of Regulation 14A promulgated under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

I. Background 

ExxonMobil’s retail investors, many of whom are retired and depend on ExxonMobil’s 
dividends to support their livelihoods, have voiced significant frustration over the annual time 
commitment required to vote at our meetings of shareholders. Each year, retail investors face a 
large number of proposals to vote on. This burden is not just a matter of hours spent; it also 
disproportionately impacts retail investors who lack access to professionals dedicated to voting. 
This limits their participation in shareholder democracy.  

The consequences are tangible: the Company’s records indicate that at its most recent 
annual meeting, nearly 40% of our outstanding shares were held by retail investors, yet only a 
quarter of these retail shares were voted. Despite these low voting numbers, the Company’s 
engagements reveal that retail investors are deeply invested in ExxonMobil’s future and are 
eager for a more accessible way to participate in the Company’s voting process. In reviewing 
these issues, ExxonMobil has long received feedback from its retail investors that they would 
welcome the ability to give a standing voting instruction whereby, on an ongoing basis, their 
votes would be cast as recommended by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”). This 
is consistent with current voting patterns among ExxonMobil’s retail investors. Over the last five 
years, approximately 90% of retail investors that voted at ExxonMobil meetings supported all of 
the Board’s recommendations. Such a retail voting program would give retail investors a “Board 
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Recommended Policy” choice and would complement other voting policy choices that currently 
exist in the market that are not primarily targeted to retail investors. 

In order to (1) promote voting by retail investors, (2) provide a Board Recommended 
Policy choice, and (3) remove time and other burdens borne by retail investors in the proxy 
voting process, the Company intends to implement a voluntary, no-cost program that would 
allow ExxonMobil shareholders to authorize the voting of their shares through a contractual 
arrangement between each participating shareholder and the Company. The program would 
give those shareholders the ability to authorize a standing voting instruction that requires 
ExxonMobil to vote their shares based on the recommendation of the Company’s Board at each 
meeting of shareholders.1  

II. Design of the Retail Voting Program 

The Retail Voting Program would be available to all retail investors,2 including any 
registered owner or beneficial owner (via their bank, broker or plan administrator) of 
ExxonMobil’s shares at no cost, and each investor would be offered the same opportunity to 
enroll in the Retail Voting Program. The Company intends to communicate directly with 
registered owners, and indirectly with non-objecting beneficial owners (“NOBOs”) and objecting 
beneficial holders (“OBOs”) via their banks and brokers and those entities’ agents. 

Opt-In Process 

Participating shareholders have two choices for the kinds of matters to which their 
standing voting instruction would apply: (1) all matters; or (2) all matters except contested 
director elections3 or any acquisition, merger or divestiture transaction that, under applicable 
state law or stock exchange rules, requires approval of ExxonMobil’s shareholders. These two 
choices provide shareholders with the ability to tailor their voting decisions. 

Opt-Out Process, Reminders and Vote Overrides 

Participating shareholders may opt out of the program to cancel their standing voting 
instruction at any time and at no cost. Because votes for which the Company has received a 
standing voting instruction will be cast on the same day that the Company files a definitive proxy 
statement for an upcoming meeting, cancellation of the standing voting instruction will only 

 
1 At this time, the Company is only seeking no-action relief with respect to voting by retail shareholders at 
duly called annual general or special shareholder meetings and not with respect to any corporate actions 
that are taken by shareholder written consent. 

2 For the avoidance of doubt, the Retail Voting Program would not be available to investment advisers 
registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940 exercising voting authority with respect to client 
securities, unless the Commission otherwise determines. 

3 A “contested director election” means an election of directors in which the number of nominees for 
election to the Company’s Board in that election exceeds the number of directors to be elected. 
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apply to future meetings. Future meetings for this purpose means meetings for which the 
Company has not yet filed a definitive proxy statement.  

Participating shareholders will receive annual reminders of their enrollment in the 
program and their standing voting instruction. This reminder will include explicit language 
informing the participating shareholder of their ability to opt out and thereby cancel their 
standing voting instruction with respect to future meetings. 

Participating shareholders who selected to have their shares voted on “all matters” will 
receive an additional reminder prior to any meeting involving a contested director election or an 
acquisition, merger or divestiture transaction that, under applicable state law or stock exchange 
rules, requires approval of ExxonMobil’s shareholders. This enables that group of participating 
shareholders to have another opportunity to decide to opt out of the program or override the 
standing voting instruction prior to that meeting.   

While participating shareholders can only opt out of the standing voting instruction for 
future meetings, they can always override the votes cast by the Company through the standing 
voting instruction by voting using the proxy materials they received for that meeting. Vote 
overrides will apply to upcoming meetings for which the Company has filed a definitive proxy 
statement. In every reminder communication, participating shareholders will be informed that at 
any time, even after the Company has filed a definitive proxy statement, they can override the 
standing voting instruction and cast their own votes with respect to any proposal at an upcoming 
meeting using the proxy materials they receive that year (identical to any other shareholder 
voting at that meeting).   

Voting Mechanics 

The actual voting of shares pursuant to the standing voting instruction and any other 
administrative actions related thereto would be facilitated by ExxonMobil’s vote processing 
agent, including communications between and among ExxonMobil, banks and brokers, 
shareholders and the backend portal through which shareholders may choose to opt in or out of 
the Retail Voting Program. Information contained within the vote processing agent’s system, 
such as information related to OBOs, stays within the agent’s system and will never be 
disclosed to ExxonMobil as part of the Retail Voting Program. 

Shareholders participating in the Retail Voting Program would have their voting positions 
submitted after the Company files the definitive proxy statement with the Commission, but prior 
to the distribution of the definitive proxy statement to shareholders. As noted above, a 
participating shareholder can always override the vote authorized by the standing voting 
instruction by voting using the proxy materials they received for that meeting. As a result, 
enrollment in the program is a safeguard for those who want to ensure that their vote is actually 
cast in alignment with the Board’s recommendations in an efficient manner, but it does not 
interfere with their rights and ability to vote at shareholder meetings. The standing voting 
instruction is designed to facilitate the shareholder’s choice to establish a streamlined and 
automated process, and the same shareholder can easily override that process by instead 
voting at an upcoming meeting using the proxy materials they receive that year (identical to any 
other shareholder voting at that meeting). In this respect, the Retail Voting Program does not 
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limit or restrict shareholders from voting at any time using the proxy materials they received for 
the meeting. 

In addition to program-related communications and reminders provided to participating 
shareholders, ExxonMobil intends to disclose the Retail Voting Program in its proxy statement 
for each upcoming shareholder meeting, including the ability of participating shareholders to opt 
out of the program for future meetings or to override their standing voting instruction with 
respect to the specified proposals at an upcoming meeting at any time prior to the vote at that 
meeting. As noted above, banks, brokers and plan administrators will communicate with NOBO 
and OBO shareholders about the Retail Voting Program via their agents for shareholder 
communication services.  

III. Public Disclosure of the Retail Voting Program 

At the initiation of the Retail Voting Program, the Company intends to file with the 
Commission the relevant materials describing the Retail Voting Program under cover of 
Schedule 14A pursuant to Rule 14a-12 and will subsequently file any material changes to these 
materials in the same manner.4  

Furthermore, the Company will make full disclosure on its website and in its proxy 
statement of the Retail Voting Program. And shareholders will, in connection with each 
shareholder meeting, receive all proxy materials and will have the ability to opt out and cancel or 
override their standing voting instruction at any time, as described in detail above. 

IV. State Law 

The Company notes that the granting by a shareholder of a standing voting instruction 
pursuant to the Retail Voting Program is permitted under New Jersey law, which is the state 
corporate law applicable to the Company. The Company has also reviewed Delaware law with 
respect to the same question. New Jersey and Delaware state corporate law each permit the 
giving of a standing voting instruction that does not expire so long as the instruction provides for 
such extended duration. See NJ Rev Stat § 14A:5-19 (“No proxy shall be valid for more than 11 
months, unless a longer time is expressly provided therein”); 8 Del. C. § 212(b) (proxies valid for 
up to three years, “unless the proxy provides for a longer period”). 

 

 
4 The Company is not seeking no-action relief in this letter regarding whether the Retail Voting Program 
involves the “solicitation” of proxies, as defined in Rule 14a-1(l). In any event, to the extent 
communications related to the Retail Voting Program are considered “solicitations,” the provision of such 
communications to beneficial owners of the Company’s securities by banks, brokers and other nominees 
would be subject to Rule 14a-2(a)(1). 
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V. Compliance with Rules 14a-4(d)(2) and 14a-4(d)(3)

Under Rule 14a-4(d)(2), “no proxy shall confer authority […] [t]o vote at any annual 
meeting other than the next annual meeting (or any adjournment thereof) to be held after the 
date on which the proxy statement and form of proxy are first sent or given to security holders.” 
Under a similar provision, Rule 14a-4(d)(3) provides that “no proxy shall confer authority […] [t]o 
vote with respect to more than one meeting (and any adjournment thereof).” 17 CFR 240.14a-4. 
The Company respectfully submits that the proposed Retail Voting Program should not be 
viewed as conflicting with Rules 14a-4(d)(2) or 14a-4(d)(3), given the reminders and easy opt-
out and override abilities built into the program and the choices made by shareholders. 

As noted above, shareholders that have opted in to the program will receive an annual 
reminder in the proxy off-season of their opt-in status and selection, which will remind them of 
their ability to opt out and cancel their standing voting instruction with respect to subsequent 
meetings. Participating shareholders will have the easy, no-cost ability and choice to leave in 
place the standing voting instruction, or to opt out and cancel the standing voting instruction. 
More importantly in this context, even participating shareholders that choose not to opt out are 
exercising a choice by leaving the standing voting instruction in place. Furthermore, at the time 
of receiving their proxy materials, participating shareholders again have the easy, no-cost ability 
and choice to leave the standing voting instruction in place, or to opt out and cancel or override 
the standing voting instruction. 

Accordingly, the choice made (in response to the annual reminder or the proxy 
materials) is in our view a reaffirmation or renewal of the standing voting instruction, which 
enables compliance with Rules 14a-4(d)(2) and 14a-4(d)(3). 

The Company respectfully submits that this position is consistent with the intent behind 
Rules 14a-4(d)(2) and 14a-4(d)(3). The Commission’s commentary in connection with the 
adoption of Rule 14a-4(d)(2), for instance, notes that the purpose of Rule 14a-4(d)(2) was to 
avoid the premature solicitation of proxies.5 The commentary in connection with the adoption of 
Rule 14a-4(d)(3) noted that the intent was to codify existing Commission interpretations of the 
proxy rules regarding proxies.6 

The Company believes that the Retail Voting Program is not inconsistent with this intent 
for the following reasons. First, subsequently adopted Rule 14a-12 explicitly permits the 
solicitation of proxies before a proxy statement is furnished to security holders, so long as the 
relevant materials are filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 14a-12 and the proxy 

5 See Federal Register, Vol. 12, No. 222, November 5, 1948, 6679 (“In order to prevent the 
premature solicitation of proxies at a time when material information has not yet become available, the 
amended rule provides that no proxy shall confer authority to vote at any annual meeting other than the 
next annual meeting (or any adjournment thereof) which is to be held after the date on which the 
solicitation is made”). 

6 See Federal Register, Vol. 51, No. 224, November 20, 1986, 42049 (“As proposed, the 
Commission has added paragraph (d)(3) to Rule 14a-4 to codify current interpretations that a proxy may 
not confer authority to vote at more than one meeting or consent solicitation”). 
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statement is distributed once available. Second, the Retail Voting Program does not “lock in” the 
proxy or the vote, but rather provides the ability for participating shareholders to opt out of the 
program at any time for future meetings, and to override the standing voting instruction by voting 
at the upcoming meeting using the proxy materials they received for that meeting. 

Although the Company believes that the Retail Voting Program complies with Rules 14a-
4(d)(2) and 14a-4(d)(3) (and the proxy rules generally), the Company is nonetheless seeking 
confirmation that the Staff will not recommend any enforcement action by the Commission 
under Rules 14a-4(d)(2) and 14a-4(d)(3) with respect to the Company’s implementation of the 
Retail Voting Program. 

*** 

Should you have any questions regarding this request or require additional information, 
please do not hesitate to contact us at (212) 450-4539. We appreciate your attention to this 
matter. 

 

Respectfully yours, 

 
David A. Kern 

 Exxon Mobil Corporation 
 
 

 
Louis Goldberg 

 Davis Polk 
 
 

 
Ning Chiu 

 Davis Polk 
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Exxon Mobil Corporation
Response of the Office of Mergers and Acquisitions
Division of Corporation Finance

September 15, 2025

Via Email

David A. Kern
Exxon Mobil Corporation
david.a.kern@exxonmobil.com

Louis Goldberg
Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP
louis.goldberg@davispolk.com

Ning Chiu
Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP
ning.chiu@davispolk.com

Re: Exxon Mobil Corporation’s Proposed Retail Voting Program
Incoming letter dated September 15, 2025

Dear Mr. Kern, Mr. Goldberg, and Ms. Chiu:

We are responding to your letter dated September 15, 2025, addressed to Tiffany Posil and David Plattner. To avoid having to recite or
summarize the facts set forth in your letter, we attach a copy of your letter. Unless otherwise noted, capitalized terms in this response
letter have the same meaning as in your letter.

Based on the facts and representations presented in your letter, the Division of Corporation Finance will not recommend enforcement
action to the Commission under Exchange Act Rule 14a-4(d)(2) or Rule 14a-4(d)(3) if Exxon Mobil Corporation implements the Retail
Voting Program as described in your incoming letter.

In particular, we note the following representations:

the Retail Voting Program would be available to all retail investors, including any registered owner or beneficial owner (via their
bank, broker or plan administrator) of ExxonMobil’s shares at no cost, and each would be offered the same opportunity to enroll in
the program;

the Retail Voting Program would not be available to investment advisers registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940
exercising voting authority with respect to client securities;

retail shareholders that have opted in to the Retail Voting Program will receive an annual reminder, during the time period when the
Company is not soliciting votes for its annual shareholder meeting, of their opt-in status and selection, and will be reminded of their
ability to opt out and cancel their standing voting instruction with respect to subsequent meetings;

participating retail shareholders will have the ability and choice to opt out and cancel the standing voting instruction at no cost, as
well as the ability to override the instruction with respect to any particular proposal or proposals at no cost;

participating retail shareholders will continue to receive all proxy materials filed for upcoming shareholder meetings and the Retail
Voting Program will not limit or restrict shareholders from voting at any time using the proxy materials they received for each
meeting; and

the Company will make full disclosure on its website and in its proxy statements of the Retail Voting Program.

10/2/25, 11:02 AM SEC.gov | Exxon Mobil Corporation
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https://avanan.url-protection.com/v1/r01/url?o=https%3A//www.sec.gov/rules-regulations/no-action-interpretive-exemptive-letters&g=MGM2N2IzZmNiZDI1YjI5Yw==&h=Y2M5NzZhNzQ1NjA4ZDE3YzFmMTAzMzVkNWVkZmQyZmNiYTlmNGJiNjFmMmVkNzIxOTk4ZTg4Yjk2YmZmYzgwNQ==&p=YXAzOnJlYnV0dGFsY2FzOmE6bzo2ZjRjYmFmZjZlN2JhNDBhMjM4MTc4M2NkOTA2YTUyMTo3OnA6VA==
https://avanan.url-protection.com/v1/r01/url?o=https%3A//www.sec.gov/rules-regulations/no-action-interpretive-exemptive-letters/division-corporation-finance-no-action&g=Yzk0OGRlNWY5NmZkYmFhYQ==&h=Yzg1NWUzNGQzZGRlNDBjNzgyNzNmMTBkN2ZhNGRjNGJmZjEwMmFmNDc5ZmMzZjJkMzQ2MTA1NWI2Y2NiNGFjZA==&p=YXAzOnJlYnV0dGFsY2FzOmE6bzo2ZjRjYmFmZjZlN2JhNDBhMjM4MTc4M2NkOTA2YTUyMTo3OnA6VA==
https://avanan.url-protection.com/v1/r01/url?o=https%3A//www.sec.gov/rules-regulations/no-action-interpretive-exemptive-letters/division-corporation-finance-no-action&g=Yzk0OGRlNWY5NmZkYmFhYQ==&h=Yzg1NWUzNGQzZGRlNDBjNzgyNzNmMTBkN2ZhNGRjNGJmZjEwMmFmNDc5ZmMzZjJkMzQ2MTA1NWI2Y2NiNGFjZA==&p=YXAzOnJlYnV0dGFsY2FzOmE6bzo2ZjRjYmFmZjZlN2JhNDBhMjM4MTc4M2NkOTA2YTUyMTo3OnA6VA==
https://avanan.url-protection.com/v1/r01/url?o=https%3A//www.sec.gov/&g=YTBhOWE5NzdmZDc3NzEyMA==&h=NWZkMjQwMDNkNzQ0YzAzOTc2MWIxZjYzMjg5OWMxNDY2M2EyMTEyMzEyZGY0NTU3MGUyMjZmMjY4NTUzNWViNw==&p=YXAzOnJlYnV0dGFsY2FzOmE6bzo2ZjRjYmFmZjZlN2JhNDBhMjM4MTc4M2NkOTA2YTUyMTo3OnA6VA==


This position is based on the representations made to the Division in your letter. Any different facts or conditions may require the Division
to reach a different conclusion. Further, this response does not express any legal conclusion on the questions presented or any views on
any other questions that your request may raise, including compliance with other provisions of the federal proxy rules or the federal
securities laws.

Last Reviewed or Updated: Sept. 15, 2025

RESOURCES

Final Incoming Letter

Sincerely,

/s/ Tiffany Posil

Tiffany Posil
Chief, Office of Mergers and Acquisitions
Division of Corporation Finance

10/2/25, 11:02 AM SEC.gov | Exxon Mobil Corporation

https://www.sec.gov/rules-regulations/no-action-interpretive-exemptive-letters/division-corporation-finance-no-action/exxon-mobile-091525 2/2
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EXXON MOBIL CORP

FORM DEFA14A
(Additional Proxy Soliciting Materials (definitive))

Filed 09/17/25

    
Address 22777 SPRINGWOODS VILLAGE PARKWAY

SPRING, TX, 77389-1425
Telephone 9729406000

CIK 0000034088
Symbol XOM

SIC Code 2911 - Petroleum Refining
Industry Oil & Gas Refining and Marketing

Sector Energy
Fiscal Year 12/31

https://pro.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2025, EDGAR Online LLC, a subsidiary of OTC Markets Group. All Rights Reserved.

Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online LLC, a subsidiary of OTC Markets Group, Terms of Use.
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549
 

 

SCHEDULE 14A
Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934
 

 

Filed by the Registrant ☒

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant ☐

Check the appropriate box:
 
☐ Preliminary Proxy Statement
 
☐ Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))
 
☐ Definitive Proxy Statement
 
☐ Definitive Additional Materials
 
☒ Soliciting Material under § 240.14a-12

EXXON MOBIL CORPORATION
(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

NOT APPLICABLE
(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check all boxes that apply):
 
☒ No fee required
 
☐ Fee paid previously with preliminary materials
 
☐ Fee computed on table in exhibit required by Item 25(b) per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
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The following contains the email invitation to a new ExxonMobil Retail Voting Program which allows ExxonMobil shareholders to opt in to vote their
shares in line with the Board’s recommendation. Subsequent pages capture the details of the printed letters, website instructions and the confirmation
page.
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Website Service Description bil H We As part of the service. after ExxonMobl ties &ts proxy statement. your shares WtiJ be voted a.ulornaticaly according to the Board of Directona’ rooommendabons You can chango your vote on any proposal related to any meeting by follOWing the vobng In trud.loo .nc:ludcd lh your proxy ma tlaJa. Update you annuotty on your enrollment stotus. Pro~ do lnstrucoons on how to opt out or update your voting preferences. Sharo o Ust of pr or proposals tho Board recommended. Who ca parti p te in tt ‘s fr Mce’ AD sharehold rs, lndud g beneficial own rs, reg stered shareholders, and pal’bCapants in company-sponsor d aqu1ty or reL.rement ptans. The serw:e doeSil’t your voung ohoieos- you can always vote dl1rorontly on any proposal. If you opt In but later voto dll“eClly on a speaftc proposal. your voto wi ovemdo tho automatic Board recommendauon. As aya. yoo11 recelvo proxy mat Aals b oro each m etlng. ouUining aJJ the proposals and the Board’s reeommendatlons Wh t vou Onoo yoo enroll, your res W1 bo au omaucaJiy voted according to tho Board’s recommend tlons-no further act on 11 n d d on your part. However, you can chango yow vote on any proposal at any time by voting dlmctly; your most ro.oent vote wd always take prec donee. You IJ conunuo to reoeive proxy matonals before eacl\ m ellng wh ch II ouUine I proposals and tho Board’s “ comm ndaliOns. Opt 9 Out You can opt out of the service at any bme and at no cos which will stop your votes from be ng cast automabcally If you deckle to opt out after Exxon Mobil has filed a defin•tive proxy statemant for an upcoming m tmg lhen your opt-out I apply to nl futuro meetings afU!r !hat one. For tho cutr nt meeung you can sWJ change your voto by fo oWing the Instructions In your proxy materials.
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Confirmation Page E>f<.onMobil Thank you! Your preference is saved. You may now close this window. Back to selectton EJS(onMobll bi(OI1 M bot e . To
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Instruction Web Site EJS(onMobll Submit your standing voting instruction As a valued Exxon Mobil shareholder, this is another way to ensure your voice is heard at every meeting. Select your standing voting instruction I.Ji!ll.mrl!i 0 Selection 1 ·All maners If you sclett this policy, )‘016 sh:!re!l wil bet vo!ed on 9Cfl p!Cip05lll il acx:on:hmoa with lho n:KlOO’IIIIC!fld.“r!iom mode by lhe company’ !I Board of Oi~ors. 0 Select~n 2 ·All matters except Certain Specified Matters II yOu &e’«<.M poliey .,.0., $11$1MwJI t>e ‘1()1$<1 01\e&<tlt)t~ ill t~OOOO<IefU w#ICI$ ~!‘l~$00.1$ 111~ Oylt’le¢0o’lll)8!1($ 6oef’d<>IOirew>’$. ~lC()1!91<111 f1) any ccmte!ltOd CIIIOCIOf eleK:loro .aw.l f2111”‘t IICQU!!idioo. met(lo:‘f 01 OYeslb.n Iran~ 1h:ll, uodef ~~~~ 5tal:o litW Of $lOCk e~e 1\/.e!l, ret111in:-s aPCtQWIII d ~tAobl’$ sn11ral’lolcl$t’$ Terms of the votl~ ~n &ent agreement ~t” By making a .9eleel.i01’1, you ~ agreei!’!Q to ~ide a etal’ldi’IQ i~iOn to EuoMioblb 8r’l)’ eligible -Sllat’M <lireelly Molo:l in ‘(OUr na~r~e Or held in “Sfieet Nme· but bMetdalty cw.ntWJ by you to be YOO&d a1 81 tuWte ST~IWE!IIOIGel’$’ meemge consistent wllh the reoommen!Ja!IOoe or f.Joo)Mtobr s Board or ~ as to ea~ type ol oroposat lncscetGO by you In “SeleCIJon 1· All Metter&· or ‘SefeciiOn 2 -All Mllllef’8 Ellcept Cei’IIWI SP&tllle<J Maners·. Tt!IS &l¥~011’9in~n wiltem~n $1’/$ciiY$ ,1nc1 r. ~tor 9<~GfY Shtlf9h0kl$t meelh~tunbt yw C¥~Qel \tlt 1~101\. “1’1(,1 will bt communfC::o:lle<I IOYQ\1’ Nnk. brokM 01 pl.l!Ut!mtnilitr:.tor(if your $1l;lt05 .:~re held wougtU!\Citll) Learn more A How does ~voting setviee wortt? v- What communications can 1 expect from ExxonMOhil as pBrt ol this seMr.e? v Who a1n participate in this free servioe? v- What can 1 el!J)ect after enro~ v Can I opl out of the &etVice lca!er? Bade: to “Seiad your s1anding voting inslruction • EJXonMobll E-xon M bll e . ‘To
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Registered Letter EJf(onMobil Exxon Mobil Corporation 22777 Sprlngwoods Village Parkway Spring, TX 77389 Irena Smith 15 Main Street Anytown. NY 11423·1325 Account Number ....... 1234 A new, easy way to vote Opt i n now Scan the code with your phone to enroll, or visit the link below. https:/1 qa.tlnybfs.com/1/ aJLMhy When you invested in E>XonMobil, you took ownership in a historic company. Today, we are Inviting you to opt in to a new Retail Voting Program to vote your ExxonMobil shares in line wi:h our Board’s recommendations. It’s another way to ensure your voice is heard. What you can expect when you enroll: Save time, align your vote with the Board’s recommendations at each shareholder meeting Change your vote anytime-override a vote or opt out for future meetings To activate this no-cost service, simply scan the QR code at the top of this letter with your smartphone camera or go to lhe website provided. Thank you for being a valued ExxonMobil shareholder. Investor Relations 1 Exxon Mobil Corporation 1 Retaii.Shareholder@exxonmobil.com PXXXXX

 
Case 3:25-cv-16633     Document 1-3     Filed 10/14/25     Page 8 of 12 PageID: 48



Beneficial Letter Hextone Haxtone P.O. Box 1310 Btonlwood. NY 11717 1,..niJ Smith 15 M”’” S~eel .Allyi<Mn. NY 11423·1325 EJ!(OnMobil ExxonMobil investor message: Account Number -1234 A new, easy way to vote Opt ln now Scan the code wllh your ph<lne to enroU. or vtsitlhe link bei!Wol. https:/1 qa.Unybfs.com/!1 aJLMhy When you Invested In ExxonMobH. you took ownership In a histone company. Today, we are Inviting you to opt In to a new Retail Voting Program to vote your ExxonMobil shares In line with our Board’s recommendations. Irs another way to ensure your voice is heard. What you can expect when you onroll: Save time, align your vote with the Board’s recommendations at each shareholder meeting Change your vote anybme-<>vemde a vote or opt out for luture meetings To activate this no-oost service, simply scan the OR code at the top of this letter W1th your smartphone camera or go to the website provided. Thank you for being a valued Ex><onMobil shareholder. Investor Relations f Exxon Mobtl Corporation I Retail.Shareholder@exxonmobil.com T1t9 ExxonMobH Retail Voting Program df’Jxribfld horwin is noi1110r <md0rs6d not’ BOficitOd by your twker and il$ agoots. P)(XXXX

 
Case 3:25-cv-16633     Document 1-3     Filed 10/14/25     Page 9 of 12 PageID: 49



Registered Email Set your standing voting instructions for ExxonMobil ·- Exxon Mobil Corporation <lnvite@RSVP.investordelivery.com> ,_..,....,.,., tome E’5(onMobil Account Number 1234 A new, easy way to vote When you invested in ExxonMobil, you took ownership in a historic compa ny. Today, we are inviting you to opt in to a new Retail Voting Program to vote your Exxon Mobil shares in line with our Board’s recommendations. It’s another way to ensure your voice is heard. Opt In Now What you can expect Save time, align your vote with the Board’s recommendations at each shareholder meeting Change your vote anytime-override a vote or opt out for future meetings Opt In Now Thank you for be ing a valued ExxonMobil shareholder. Investor Relations Exxon Mobil Corporation Retaii.Shareholder@exxon mobi l.com Stay Connected Dlm X I1 Job#: N12345 ©2025 Exxon Mobil Corpotation. All Rights Reserved. ExxonMobil is a trademark of ExxonMobil or its subsidiaries in the United States and elsewhere. All other trademarks are those of their respective owners. Aroy data collected will be processed according to ExxonMobil’s privacy policy. Privacy Statement
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Beneficial Email Set your standing voting in structions for ExxonMobil —· HeJCtone <lnv ite@RSVP.tn vestordelivery.com> fi..,. Jo, to tome Hextone Account Number -··1234 ExxonMobil investor message: EJf(onM obil A new, easy way to vote When you Invested in Exxon Mobil, you took ownership in a historic company. Today, we are inviting you to o t in to a new Retail VolJng.ErQgram to vole your ExxonMobil shares in line with our Board’s recommendations. It’s another way to ensure your voice is heard. Opt In Now What you can expect Save time, align your vote with the Board’s recommenda lions at each shareholder meeting Change your vote anytime—override a vote or opt out fo:r future meetings Thank you for being a valued Exxon Mobil shareholder. Investor Relations Exxon Mobil Corporation Retaii.Shareholder@exxonmobil.com Opt In Now The Exxon Mobil Retail Voting Program described herein is neither endorsed nor solicited by your broker and i1s agen1s. Stay connected .Job #: K12345 @2025 Hextone P.O. Box 1310. Brentwood, NY 11717 CUSIP is a registered tlademart< of the American Banl<ers Association. AU o ther registered marks belong to their respective owners. Email Settings f Terms and Conditions I Privacy Statement
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Additional Information and Where to Find It

ExxonMobil intends to file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) a definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A (the
“Definitive Proxy Statement”) and a proxy card with respect to its solicitation of proxies for future annual meetings and any special meetings as well.
The Definitive Proxy Statement for any annual or special meeting will contain important information about the matters to be voted on at that specific
meeting.

SHAREHOLDERS OF EXXONMOBIL ARE URGED TO READ THESE MATERIALS (INCLUDING ANY AMENDMENTS OR
SUPPLEMENTS THERETO) AND ANY OTHER RELEVANT DOCUMENTS THAT EXXONMOBIL WILL FILE WITH THE SEC WHEN
THEY BECOME AVAILABLE BECAUSE THEY WILL CONTAIN IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT EXXONMOBIL AND THE
MATTERS TO BE VOTED ON AT THAT SPECIFIC MEETING.

Shareholders will be able to obtain free copies of these annual or special meeting documents, and other documents filed with the SEC by ExxonMobil,
through the website maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov. In addition, shareholders will be able to obtain free copies of these documents from
ExxonMobil by contacting ExxonMobil’s Investor Relations by e-mail at shareholderrelations@exxonmobil.com, or by going to ExxonMobil’s Events
and Presentations page on its website at https://investor.exxonmobil.com/news-events/annual-shareholder-meeting.
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